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About the Book

An insightful and gripping account of the largest airborne operation in history.
 
In September 1944, the river Rhine was a serious barrier to the advancing Allied armies in the West who were intent on charging Berlin and ending the war. Field Marshal Bernard Montgomery decided to utilise the First Allied Airborne Army consisting of British, American and Polish troops. Codenamed Operation Market Garden, 40,000 paratroopers were dropped behind enemy lines while ground forces linked to relieve them. But, due to bad weather and German resistance, the operation failed. In March 1945, a second attempt was planned: Operation Varsity Plunder. This time the plan worked. Despite extremely heavy fighting, they cracked the German line.
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Introduction


There are thousands of eyes keeping watch on the Rhine; thousands of German eyes … It has the feel of the last barrier, and I know that when the Allied armies cross this brown river, it will be the end of Nazi Germany.

(war correspondent R.W. Thompson, 24 November 1944)



The River Rhine has been at the centre of the lives of those living within its reach ever since man could harness its potential, but over the centuries it attained a significance and influence that affected the entire Continent. From its source in the Swiss Alps to its emptying into the North Sea, the Rhine not only carved its way through 820 miles of Europe’s heartland, but also deep into its people’s psyche. As an important boundary, trade route and symbol of strength, it quickly became the subject of passionate political disagreement and military violence. Indeed, its blood-soaked shoreline has moved one commentator to write: ‘In every century great armies have fought for possession of its banks, its bridges, its crossings, its cities, in a way that no other river has ever been fought for.’ Its long and troubled history helped to define the river, and although today’s travellers cruising along its calm waters may delight in the aesthetic charm of the castles and ruins on its banks, they are the physical evidence of the Rhine’s turbulent past. These fortifications enhanced the river’s natural defences, encompassed notable breadth, depth and current, and allowed few successful aggressive crossings from the West. Consequently the Rhine developed a reputation as not only a great physical barrier but also a psychological one. It was a situation that Julius Caesar recognized when his troops breached the river in 56 BC. He later wrote that his offensive motivations were in part to give the Germans ‘reasons of their own for anxiety when they realized that an army of the Roman people could and would cross the Rhine’.

The River Rhine was never more of a military impediment than when it was faced by the Western Allies in months during the autumn of 1944. For them it was a known obstacle that had to be overcome if their forces were to take and hold vital ground at the heart of Germany and gain access to the enemy’s capital city. For the Germans, meanwhile, the Rhine remained a bulwark, a liquid security blanket behind which their shattered nation could cower, a line which, if breached, would mark the end of their fragile hope. In such circumstances General Dwight Eisenhower, Supreme Commander of the Allied forces in Europe, had to face the question of how and where to cross the Rhine – and who would carry it out, a situation that could not be dealt with by merely waving a large hand across a small map. Indeed, the challenge of crossing the mighty Rhine highlighted a sensitive feature of Eisenhower’s seemingly irrepressible military machine: Anglo-American rivalry. This friction was fast approaching its third trying year, and far from abating, looked to be increasing with every step towards the Fatherland. It was a situation personified, and also exacerbated, by British Field Marshal Bernard Montgomery, commander of the British Twenty-First Army Group, who seemed to be in permanent conflict not just with the Germans but also with American commanders. In such circumstances the submissions forwarded by these senior commanders in their rush to be chosen as the man to make the Rhine attempt were laced with skulduggery, hidden agendas and coated in a rich polemic. Even so, Eisenhower – under intense pressure and scrutiny – had a responsibility to decide which commander, and therefore which nation, was to be favoured with the strike across the Rhine. He also had to bear in mind that in so choosing, that commander would be set fair to forge on to Berlin and steal a pre-eminent place in the history books.

One of the many influences on Eisenhower’s decision to award Montgomery the prize was the Field Marshal’s desire to use the newly formed First Allied Airborne Army to help achieve a Rhine crossing. By applying a new solution to an old problem, there was an opportunity to avoid a much-feared, protracted and costly slogging-match on the banks of the river. Nevertheless, the airborne method was not without its critics, who in 1944 pointed to its mixed success thus far in the war. They argued that it was a complicated, vulnerable, expensive and profligate form of warfare whose potential was outweighed by the massive risks associated with it. To others, however, airborne warfare was exactly the sort of dynamic, flexible and bold form of fighting in which the Allies should be engaging. They reasoned that by inserting troops into areas that were otherwise inaccessible, the enemy could be surprised, dislocated and outmanoeuvred with the possibility of an advantageous strategic impact. However, both opinions on this new form of warfare tended to lack objectivity, with personal loyalties and assumptions often undermining their helpfulness. Of course, airborne operations had the same basic requirements as any other form of warfare: they needed to have achievable aims, be adequately resourced and carefully planned to ensure that their risks were deftly managed. However, because airborne operations were by their nature more risky than most other types, they should only be employed in very specific circumstances if those risks were not to become fatal vulnerabilities. It is the applicability of these specific circumstances that needs to be considered if two separate but inextricably linked Montgomery schemes to cross the Rhine using airborne forces are to be fully understood.

Of these two remarkable operations: Market Garden, conducted during September 1944 in Holland, and Operation Plunder Varsity, conducted in March 1945 in Germany, the former is by far the better known and is one of the most famous engagements of the Second World War. There have been scores of books, articles and documentaries produced over the last 30 years about this dramatic attempt to ‘bounce the Rhine’, with many inspired by the success of the 1977 film A Bridge Too Far, which was based on Cornelius Ryan’s book of the same name. Indeed, in recent years a Market Garden-based computer game has been a bestseller proclaiming: ‘From war-room strategy to gritty trench combat, battlefields come to life as you command Allied or Axis powers. It’s a desperate fight – bridge after bridge – where every second counts.’ The phrase ‘a bridge too far’ is in common usage on both sides of the Atlantic as a descriptive shorthand for overstretch. But while it is tempting to say that the fascination of Market Garden is based on the controversy surrounding it, the reality is that it has come to be seen as an Aunt Sally operation. There has grown around it an overwhelmingly dominant perception, summarized by British historian Ronald Lewin, who writes that it was ‘a British disaster where naked courage lacked the bodyguard of competent planning, competent intelligence, competent technology’. Dissatisfied with such a damning verdict, he goes on to add spitefully: ‘war’s objective is victory, not only the Victoria Cross, and it was shameful that by the autumn of 1944 we could still be so amateur’. But these glib criticisms signally fail to provide a full and empathetic account of the circumstances in which the operation was conceived, planned and conducted. Moreover, it is not only disrespectful but unworthy of Lewin to argue that Allied commanders in the autumn of 1944 needed to be reminded that ‘war’s objective is victory, not only the Victoria Cross’. Such facile statements are extremely misleading as they make it seem as though critical decisions were taken in a strategic vacuum rather than in a heady atmosphere dominated by competing interests.

Yet whilst Market Garden has been subjected to many harsh words that have served to raise its profile, Plunder Varsity remains little known. When compared to Market Garden it has attracted scant attention from authors, its commemorations are muted and far less well attended by the public, and battlefield tours to its important sites are rarities. However, it remains an operation highly deserving of close attention for it was a remarkable undertaking and surrounded by controversy all of its own. Plunder Varsity was the largest single airborne lift operation in history, which reflected the massive material advantages that the Allies enjoyed at the time, but it was not, of course, without risk. The resultant battles were dramatic, intense, involved some heavy casualties and were not without mistakes or great drama. Indeed, there seems to be a misconception that the Battle of the Ardennes in December 1944 was the last great battle of the Western Allies in Europe, and that the fighting that followed was little more than a walkover. But Plunder Varsity underlines the need to re-evaluate such easily accepted notions, for although it is undeniable that the Germans were already unstitched by the final months of the war, the story of them being pulled apart demands to be told.

Together the stories of these two great airborne operations provide the ideal opportunity to investigate the unfurling of Eisenhower’s strategy, along with Germany’s struggle to sustain its war effort. They also provide an insight into the development of Allied fighting methods and, in particular, the audacious art of airborne warfare. Never before or since has the world seen such a grandiose and romantic use of the air flank, and although Market Garden and Plunder Varsity differed in many ways, they also had much in common. Chief among the similarities was the importance of high-quality fighting troops. An airborne soldier who lacked physical or mental strength was ill-equipped to contend with the many demands that being lightly armed and dropped behind enemy lines entailed. The story of these operations is, therefore, not only about rivalry and friction in the higher echelons of command but also about the rigours of small-unit actions and the motivations of the individual. It is about the comradeship, professionalism, courage and tenacity displayed by the airborne soldiers that remains peerless in the history of warfare.
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Prologue

The wood is misty when I arrive, but shafts of sunlight cut their way through the canopy of leaves to illuminate the scene. ‘The Hollow’ is less distinct than I had expected and would not normally warrant a second glance. It’s just a collection of eroded leaf-covered holes in the ground; the deepest is 15 feet from the bottom to its lip and the largest can be walked around in seconds. They are defended by tall, straight, elegant beech trees which stand like pristine Guardsmen, but look carefully and you can see their battle scars. I pull out a map to get my bearings, to help me in the imaginative leap that I need to picture the scene 50 years ago when British paratroopers gave battle here. The Germans were in the trees on the other side of the lane, intent on blocking the way to the edge of a pocket containing the shattered remnants of the 1 British Airborne Division. A brisk hour’s walk eastwards would bring me to the division’s main objective, the road bridge over that most mesmerizing of water obstacles, the Lower Rhine. I was lying prone on one of The Hollow’s damp banks trying to get a paratrooper’s perspective when Colonel Geoffrey Powell arrived. He had fought here as a company commander in 156 Para and now gives me an encouraging smile, offering approvingly: ‘That’s it exactly.’ With those few words I notice a transformation in the previously quiet, elderly gentleman whom I had met yesterday: his back is straighter, he has a glint in his eye, he looks younger.

I had travelled from England with some military colleagues, Geoffrey Powell and Sir James Cleminson, for a reconnaissance of the Arnhem battlefield prior to a visit by the British Army Staff College. I felt immensely privileged being in the company of these veterans of the battle, having first read about their dramatic exploits as a 9-year-old boy. Powell, the intrepid leader whose bravery seemed to know no bounds, and Cleminson, the 3 Para platoon commander whose own remarkable story included being forced to take refuge in an attic with the divisional commander, Major-General Roy Urquhart, when they were surrounded by the enemy. I was desperate to learn from these men, but on our journey we merely made polite conversation, as the British do so well, in an attempt to get to know each other. But now, standing in the woods just outside Oosterbeek where his men had fallen, Geoffrey is back in 1944. Looking me in the eye, he begins to relive his experience. ‘We took this place,’ he says in a voice that still boasts considerable resonance, ‘after a good old-fashioned charge.’ An intensely modest man who would rather be remembered for his considerable postwar literary achievements than for his exploits as a soldier, Geoffrey is understating the achievement of an action that could so easily have ended in his death. He led the charge with his close friend Major Michael Page at his shoulder, a man who had cropped up in conversation several times yesterday. As it turned out, the sight and sound of a body of paratroopers screaming feverishly as they hurtled towards the Germans was enough to make the stunned defenders withdraw. I help Geoffrey down into a sandy hole: ‘I organized things from here,’ he recalls, ‘we were expecting the Germans to counterattack before too long.’ He pauses and gathers his thoughts before continuing with a wave of his hands: ‘Michael defended the right side of the Hollow, and Corporal Rosenberg the left. It was a tight, contained position.’ He points out an area of ground equivalent to the size of about one and a half football pitches and describes the location of the enemy, their weapons and, touchingly, the personalities of some of the men. Geoffrey offers an intimate and loving portrait of Michael Page whom he describes as a large, dependable and caring man with whom he had a close affinity.

We wander around the position and each step that Geoffrey takes seems to trigger a memory of that tumultuous day in September. Here is the place where wounded Germans were searched for ammunition; here the site where an enemy self-propelled gun was silenced by an anti-tank round and there where the man that fired the round was hit by a stream of machine gun bullets; over there is the nook where a soldier with a mortal stomach wound asked quietly to be put out of his misery. He talks about the dead in a semi-detached manner, discussing each in a way that reveals that neither the officer nor the civilian can afford to dwell on them without encouraging a distorted perspective on events. We stop for a moment to comment on the clearing mist, and then retrace our steps before coming to a halt. Geoffrey says: ‘Brigadier Hackett and I discussed our little situation here. Hackett was a cool customer. He had saved his friend’s life shortly before.’ I know the story. During enemy shelling and mortaring, a jeep loaded with ammunition caught fire and threatened another bearing a severely wounded officer on a stretcher. Seeing the danger, Hackett leapt up, ran over to the casualty’s jeep through a small arms barrage and, shielding his face from the flames, started the engine and sped away. That wounded man was Lieutenant-Colonel Derick Heathcote-Amory, a future Chancellor of the Exchequer.

Continuing our exploration, Geoffrey seems distracted and is quiet for a minute or two. Then, for the first time that morning, he speaks without looking at me: ‘Snipers were a real threat’, he states warily, ‘and it was around here that Michael was killed.’ Page was shot through the forehead while trying to locate the position of a German machine gun. ‘I could not bring myself to look at his body. It was a difficult thing to reconcile. He had been so alive just minutes before.’ He quickly changes the subject and begins to talk about his diminishing band of fatigued soldiers who were running dangerously low on ammunition after hours of being pinned down by the Germans. ‘Time was not on our side’. Geoffrey reflects, ‘and the Brigadier decided that he would lead a charge out of The Hollow and through the enemy to break into the divisional position.’ There was nothing more to be done here, and Powell disengages. The mist had burnt off, it was a bright sunny day and we had an appointment at the Hartenstein Hotel.

Note: Geoffrey Powell died in 2005, but his experiences live on not only through his book, my favourite wartime memoir, Men at Arnhem, but also through what he told me that day. I have passed on his experiences and wisdom to many military and civilian groups over the years, and I make a point of visiting Michael Page’s grave in the Arnhem Oosterbeek Military Cemetery whenever I am there.
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CHAPTER 1

The Strategy of Exploitation

(The Allies: 25 August–17 September 1944)

Private Wally Parr broke the tension by bursting into song with all the Cockney gusto that he could muster. Perched on wooden benches bolted onto either side of the cylindrical fuselage, the platoon followed his lead, their voices battling against the creaking and whining made by the flimsy plywood glider and the throbbing engines of its bomber tug. Up front in the cramped cockpit, the pilots, Staff-Sergeants Jim Wallwork and John Ainsworth, concentrated on the red-hot glow of the Halifax’s exhausts to maintain their position as they cut through the night sky. Their passengers – five sappers and 23 men from D Company, 2/Oxs and Bucks Light Infantry – were part of a coup de main force. They were supremely well prepared for every conceivable scenario, but some still believed that they were on a suicide mission. The men’s singing helped mask their anxieties, and company commander Major John Howard, seated at the front of the aircraft opposite one of the exit doors, knew and respected it. He peered down the aircraft’s dark interior at the ungainly shapes of his men, their blackened faces occasionally illuminated by the moonlight. Exchanging reassuring smiles with Den Brotheridge, he tried to forget that this young platoon commander had so recently found it necessary to hide from his pregnant wife the possibility that he would never see her again.

Wallwork spotted waves breaking on a beach and signalled to Howard who gave the order for silence. Seconds later, six miles from their objective, the tow-rope was released with a jerk and the glider dropped into a stomach-churning dive below the scattered clouds. When levelled out, Brotheridge released his safety belt, stood up and, stabilized by Howard, opened the exit door. Fresh air flooded into the stale compartment and the recognizable shapes of buildings, fields and hedges could be seen scudding past the void at 90 miles per hour just 200 feet below. Then Wallwork recognized the sparkling Caen Canal on his left and, reassured that he was on course, gave a thumbs-up to Howard. On the officer’s command, the soldiers automatically prepared to land by linking their arms, interlinking their fingers, raising their knees and tensing up. The glider slammed hard into the ground throwing up a shower of sparks from its metal skids. The arrester parachute was briefly deployed and the contraption slowed a little before coming to a sudden bone-crunching halt against a small embankment. When the cockpit collapsed, both pilots were catapulted through the Perspex windscreen whilst still in their seats and their passengers were thrown violently around the fuselage. It was, nevertheless, a successful landing, with Wallwork managing to deliver the platoon just 85 yards from its goal, the bridge over the Caen Canal. It was 0016 hours on 6 June 1944, the Allies had arrived in Normandy and D-Day had begun.

The glider-borne assault on the bridges over the Caen Canal and River Orne and the subsequent operations conducted in Normandy by 6 British Airborne Division were a great success. By taking and holding the left flank of the Allied beachhead, a defensive flank was established which helped the invaders to establish themselves in France. Major-General Richard ‘Windy’ Gale’s division then fought hard throughout the subsequent battle of Normandy, spending 12 weeks in the line, three times longer than the 82 and 101 US Airborne Divisions which were also inserted on D-Day. Gale’s men returned to England having suffered 4,457 casualties. Among them was Den Brotheridge, killed by a German sentry whilst leading his men across the bridge over the Caen Canal within minutes of his glider landing. But even as the division was preparing to sail back home, a new phase in the campaign in north-west Europe was opening, with Allied ground forces striving to exploit their success in Normandy by striking eastwards. Drawing the attention of his troops to this, the chief of the Allied Land Forces and commander of Twenty-First Army Group, General Bernard Montgomery (or ‘Monty’ as he was popularly known) sent a personal message to his troops: ‘The German armies in north-west France have suffered a decisive defeat … there are still many surprises in store for the fleeing remnants. The victory has been complete, definitive and decisive.’

By the last week in August, the Germans were disintegrating, having suffered losses of at least 450,000 men and 1,500 tanks and self-propelled guns in Normandy. The formations and units that survived were battered, their organization and morale severely damaged, and although continuing to fight rearguard actions, they were in no position to stem the Allied offensive. After Paris fell without a fight on 25 August, it soon became clear that fears of a problematic crossing of the River Seine were unfounded. After the claustrophobic and protracted battle for Normandy, the sense of relief for the Supreme Commander of the Allied Expeditionary Force, General Dwight ‘Ike’ Eisenhower, was palpable, and he urged his force on towards Germany. In northern France that force consisted of Montgomery’s British Twenty-First Army Group advancing along the coast, with General Omar Bradley’s US Twelfth Army Group on his right flank and Lieutenant General Jacob Dever’s US Sixth Army Group – which had landed on the Mediterranean coast in mid-August – advancing up the Rhone Valley from the south. Leading the charge for the German border for the British in late August was Lieutenant-General Sir Miles Dempsey’s Second Army, with Lieutenant-General Sir Brian Horrocks’s XXX Corps in the vanguard with XII Corps on its left. Horrocks was in an ebullient mood, racing across France; he later wrote: ‘This was the type of warfare I thoroughly enjoyed. Who wouldn’t? I had upwards of 600 tanks under my command and we were advancing on a frontage of fifty miles … like a combine-harvester going through a field of corn.’ It was a measure of the man that Horrocks, wanting to keep his finger on the pulse of the battle, commanded his corps from a modified tank close to the front line. The charismatic 49-year-old ‘Jorrocks’, as he was known, was extremely well liked, with Major-General Allan Adair, the commander of his Guards Armoured Division, attesting:


Brian Horrocks was the best war-time commander I ever came across. He was a great leader and I found him much more impressive than Monty. When giving orders, he was very clear, and he was always right up with one and helping one along. He was full of grip and insisted on pushing us along as much as possible.



That notorious grip, however, was not always as tight as it might have been, for in June the previous year in North Africa, Horrocks had been badly wounded in the chest and leg by a strafing German fighter which had laid him up for over a year. Still weak and in some pain, it is doubtful that having been enticed from his convalescence by Monty to take command of XXX Corps in August, he was strong enough to weather the stresses and strains associated with the demanding position. Indeed, within weeks of taking up the post he succumbed to a recurring bout of illness which forced him to his bed as his corps crossed the Seine. In such circumstances it was as well that the enemy was in such disarray. One young officer wrote in his diary that Germans were ‘surrendering en masse’ and ‘greeted our troops like long-lost family members’. Moreover, an Intelligence Summary issued on 26 August by Major-General Kenneth Strong, Ike’s British head of intelligence, revealed:


Two and a half months of bitter fighting, culminating for the Germans in a blood-bath big enough even for their extravagant tastes, have brought the end of the war in Europe within sight, almost within reach. The strength of the German armies in the West has been shattered, Paris belongs to France again, and the Allied armies are streaming towards the frontiers of the Reich.



For XXX Corps, this allowed Adair’s Guards Division to strike out towards the Somme, with 38-year-old Major-General Pip Roberts’ 11 Armoured Division on its left. There was little to hold them up, and even the terrain was friendly. Guardsman Jim Hetherington, of 2/(Armoured) Irish Guards, had been concerned that after the Seine the countryside:


would be like Normandy all over again, small fields, heavy fighting and very little progress. [But] nothing could have been further from the truth! … We were just tearing along … ignoring what was happening on the flanks, and passed through, or by, town after town … The few Germans who were about got out of our way …



Horrocks noted much the same, reporting that ‘German rearguard actions were swiftly brushed aside allowing huge columns of vehicles – lorried infantry, tanks, armoured cars – to rumble forward along roads lined with locals.’ ‘Club Route’, as the Guards called their pathway, became a high-speed road. Indeed, 2nd Lieutenant Robert Boscawen, an Eton, Cambridge and Sandhurst-educated tank troop commander in the Coldstream Guards, wrote in his diary: ‘We had enough maps to reach Moscow, but in two days we had run over them all.’ The Guards Armoured Division was gaining a head of steam and was determined to use its momentum to throw Second Army forward, as Boscawen notes:


Still we raced on, regardless of bogie-wheels and tracks. One of my tanks sheared off all the nuts on one side of the sprocket but I decided to keep it going … In front the Grenadiers had practically no opposition until the Somme, except shooting up an occasional convoy. The Recce Welsh … were well out in front shooting up Germans struggling vainly to escape.



The fact that the armoured Guardsmen were driving through the old battlefields across which their fathers and regiments had struggled a generation before was not lost on them. Captain James Osborne of the Irish Guards reflected: ‘It took us two hours to cross the Western Front that had been fought over for four years in the 1914–1918 War.’ It was not unusual, as the battalion War Diary notes, for the unit to advance 60 miles a day during the last week of August, and the Germans were shocked. Horrocks came across an incongruous sight on entering the city of Amiens on 31 August, later recalling:


And from behind one of the lorries was led a scowling, unshaven and very ugly German officer dressed in a black uniform. I would have disliked him at sight, even if he had not looked like a senior SS commander (which he wasn’t). Roberts was exactly like a proud farmer leading forward his champion bull. He told me that his prize exhibit was General Eberbach [Heinrich Eberbach, commander of Seventh Army] … whom the 11th Armoured had captured in his pyjamas during the night advance.



And still the advance continued, with the first day of September being particularly successful. As the War Diary of the 3/Irish Guards recorded: ‘A long day of movement … We travelled 70 miles and reached Arras as it was getting dark, to receive a great reception from the inhabitants.’ The Coldstreamers, Robert Boscawen recorded, enjoyed the same welcome:


As soon as we were well into the town … every door and house was thrown open and out from every street alleyway the liberated people of Arras flooded and swarmed around the tanks … They completely abandoned themselves, rejoicing, shouting and cheering. Old men and young girls dancing down the street climbed onto my tank kissing and embracing me, shouting ‘Vive les Anglais’ and ‘No more Gestapo’ … The bells pealed and Arras was free.



The tumultuous advance continued into Belgium, with Montgomery, Dempsey and Horrocks all keen to ensure that the Germans were not given any opportunity to rest and reorganize themselves. XXX Corps now had some key objectives in its sights which included 11 Armoured Division capturing Antwerp. The senior officers of the Guards Armoured Division, meanwhile, were gathered together by Adair on 2 September for a briefing. Lieutenant-Colonel J.C. Windsor Lewis, commanding the Welsh Guards Group, recalls:


It was pouring with rain as the Brigadiers and Commanding Officers, with their staffs, assembled in the General’s tent to receive orders. Most of us expected to be told about maintenance and the general enemy situation; few could have guessed their sensational character.

General Adair’s ‘Intention’ paragraph cut through the air like a swishing sword. ‘Guards Armoured Division will advance and capture Brussels [still some 80 miles away] – and a very good intention, too,’ added the General, wearing a mischievous smile. This was greeted with roars of laughter from the keyed-up and astounded officers.



The 2/Household Cavalry Regiment, the reconnaissance element of the Guards Armoured Division, led the way to the Belgian capital, supported by RAF fighter-bombers. They scythed through the patchwork enemy defences leaving dead Germans, burning vehicles and hordes of prisoners in their wake. By the evening of 3 September, they had penetrated into Brussels and as darkness fell were followed by the rest of the division. Windsor Lewis says of the breakthrough:


German machine guns, anti-tank guns and snipers barked at us. We barked back … The opposition was soon overpowered, and the crowds emerged excitedly and over-ran the tanks … The last time I had been in Brussels was in July 1940, as a fugitive escaping from the Germans. On that occasion I had entered the city from the east in a tram. Today I entered it from the west in a tank.



Captain Michael Bendix of 5/Coldstream Guards recalls arriving in Brussels at 2300 hours that night: ‘I can remember being kissed endlessly by girls, but fell asleep as I was so worn out. On waking up, to our great joy, there were some public baths opposite and I hadn’t had a bath for a month. The noise of the cheering crowds was deafening.’ That night the Irish Guards sat down to dine in the largest café in the main square. As they ate, news arrived that some Germans were still holding a house a short distance away. Lieutenant-Colonel J.O.E. (Joe) Vandeleur, commander of the Irish Guards Battle Group remembers:


Everybody was having much too good a time to be disturbed so a combined Officers’ Mess party went off to deal with the matter, assisted by a Honey tank. We shot the place up and found some miserable little Huns in full marching order … praying in slit-trenches. They were fixed up quickly and we returned to dinner. The night was uproarious and we could not get any work done on our tanks and vehicles.



With Brussels in British hands and Roberts’ 11th Armoured Division taking Antwerp on 4 September, Horrocks was immensely proud of his corps’ achievement. It had covered nearly 250 miles from the Seine in less than one week. The newspapers jubilantly reported the advance with Daily Mail correspondent Alexander Clifford writing: ‘This mad chase is getting crazier by the hour … You can’t digest it in the least as you go along. It is so big and so swift that you almost feel it is out of control … Our columns just press on and on and on … The atmosphere is heady and intoxicating.’ The American headline writers, meanwhile, were equally delighted with progress as Lieutenant-General George Patton’s US Third Army made a swift advance towards the Saar. On 30 August, under the headline ‘U.S. TANKS RACE ON’, New York Times correspondent Drew Middleton declared:


Sweeping northward and eastward at a speed of better than twenty-five miles a day, the American offensive east of Paris has crossed the River Aisne at Soissons and the Marne near Chalons-sur-Marne, threatening on the one hand the main German forces northwest of Paris and on the other the security of the enemy’s frontier, now less than a hundred miles from the armoured spearheads …



The Allies were carried along on a wave of optimism, as illustrated by a diary entry of Winston Churchill’s Private Secretary, John Colville: ‘There is a feeling of elation, expectancy and almost bewilderment, and it may well be that the end is now very close.’ The Combined Allied Intelligence Committee in London believed that the Germans were incapable of recovery and that ‘organized resistance under the control of the German high command is unlikely to continue beyond December 1, 1944’. For planning purposes, the British War Cabinet used 31 December as the date for the end of the war in Europe, whilst in the United States a Gallup poll taken in the first week of September revealed that 67 per cent of Americans questioned expected the fighting to be over by Christmas. In Washington, meanwhile, General C. Marshall, Chief of the Army Staff, was already looking to redeploy certain American formations from the European theatre to the Pacific whilst cancelling some military contracts.

The foundation for this optimism was not difficult to explain when examining a map – particularly if one equated the taking of ground with success – but alarming cracks, caused by the rapid advance, were beginning to show in the Allied logistical infrastructure. The planners quite simply had not prepared for such a precipitous sweep across France and had relied on a bloody fight for every field and street to allow them to build up the stores of supplies required for a push into Germany. Indeed, logisticians at the Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF) had assumed that the Western Allies would not reach the German border until D+360. Thus, although the two divisions in the vanguard of XXX Corps were in excellent positions to push their advantage home, they were stymied by the need to allow supplies to catch up. The decision to halt Adair’s Guards Armoured Division in Brussels and Roberts’ 11 Armoured Division in Antwerp was later deeply regretted by Horrocks, who wrote:


To my mind 4th September was the key date in the battle for the Rhine. Had we been able to advance that day we could have smashed through this screen and advanced northwards with little or nothing to stop us. We might have succeeded in bouncing a crossing over the Rhine … I believe that if we had taken the chance and carried straight on with our advance instead of halting at Brussels the whole course of the war in Europe might have been changed.



For want of sufficient resources at the fighting front, operations were being undermined. The problem was that the Allies could not transport an adequate tonnage of the supplies that they were landing at Cherbourg the 450 miles by road to the fuel-hungry forward formations. In such circumstances, with the French railway system badly damaged by earlier Allied bombing raids and transport aircraft at a premium, Eisenhower was desperate for an adequate forward port. Although Dieppe had been captured on 1 September, it did not have the capacity that the Allies required, whilst other ports along the coast, including Le Havre, Boulogne, Calais and Ostend, were still in German hands. The seizure of the port of Antwerp intact by Roberts’ division was, therefore, a great coup as it was one of Europe’s largest cargo terminals. However, to make it operational the Germans needed to be cleared from the 54-mile estuary leading up to it, and then its mines cleared. The German troops deployed around this estuary were part of Lieutenant-General Gustav von Zangen’s retreating Fifteenth Army. This formation, consisting of some 150,000 men, had left some of its strength to defend the Channel ports and the Antwerp estuary against the Canadian First Army’s attack up the coast, while the remainder withdrew in an attempt to escape encirclement by the British Second Army. The failure of 11 Armoured Division to push on just another 15 miles after taking Antwerp, though, meant that the pocket was not closed and allowed a significant proportion of von Zangen’s force to escape and turn the nearby Albert Canal into a strong defensive line. Horrocks later wrote self-critically of the failure to block the German escape route: ‘I realise now that it was a serious mistake. My excuse was that my eyes were entirely fixed on the Rhine, and everything else seemed of subsidiary importance.’

Horrocks’ eyes may have been fixed on the Rhine, but his feet were immobilized by the Allies’ logistical difficulties. With not enough fuel finding its way through to Montgomery and Bradley for them to continue with their impressive advances, Eisenhower needed to determine how to develop his offensive. It was a decision influenced primarily by military factors but also, out of necessity, the politics of the Allied forces and Anglo-American rivalry in particular. British influence within the Western alliance had been waning ever since late 1943, by which time its Mediterranean strategy had failed to make a decisive impact on the Germans. The subsequent invasion of France had been launched from English shores and with full British support, but being dominated by American resources an American was installed as Supreme Commander. Recognizing this important departure, Winston Churchill later wrote: ‘Up to July 1944 England had a considerable say in things; after that I was conscious that it was America who made the big decisions.’ But Eisenhower was not an arrogant man and nor was he so insensitive to Britain’s contribution to the war effort that he dismissed the nation from his complex strategic calculations. Ike was also a patient man, but none tested that patience more than Bernard Montgomery. Monty personified a perceived British arrogance towards the Americans and seemed unwilling to accept the strategic consequences of his country’s diminishing military importance.

Monty, the victor of El Alamein, was the most haughty of British generals, but he was also developing into the nation’s greatest military hero since Wellington. Eric Larrabee has written that the shrew-like officer had become something of a military deity by the autumn of 1944:


He walked in the company of the great captains, his every step a vindication of their living presence. Crowds followed him, yearned to touch his sleeve. He had become a rule unto himself and could do no wrong. He wore non-regulation uniform of sweater and beret even in the presence of the monarch, who smiled.



The man believed that he was irreplaceable and was therefore untouchable – a view reinforced by the sycophantic support of key military colleagues in London. It nurtured an unseemly cockiness and self-confidence which made Montgomery as unpopular with the British as he was with the Americans that he so overtly derided. As Robin Neillands has written: ‘Montgomery was detested because, in many ways, he was indeed detestable. He was vain, dictatorial, obsessive, a sore trial to his peers and superiors and not above tinkering with the truth.’

One senior British officer who disliked Monty and thought him unworthy of the attention that he was attracting was Eisenhower’s deputy, Air Chief Marshal Sir Arthur Tedder. He told the equally difficult George Patton, who had himself clashed with Monty during the invasion of Sicily, that the contrary British general was ‘a little fellow of average ability who has had such a build-up that he thinks of himself as Napoleon’. Field Marshal Sir Alan Brooke, the Chief of the Imperial General Staff and Britain’s top soldier, was a supporter but, aware of Monty’s lack of political tact, deplored some of his subordinate’s behaviour. Brooke was even moved to write to his unruly charge when Monty was antagonizing all and sundry in the Mediterranean that he should recognize ‘the importance of your relations with allies and other Services, it is so easy to create impressions through which you may be misjudged and completely misappreciated’. But the general continued to speak his mind, continued to upset colleagues and did not stop doing so when the war moved to northern Europe. Writing to the Secretary of State for War, Sir James Grigg, Montgomery opined: ‘The real trouble with the Yanks is that they are completely ignorant of the rules of the game we are playing with the Germans. You play so much better when you know the rules.’

Montgomery’s belligerent stance had nothing to do with an unprofessional strain of patriotism or a petty one-upmanship, but an uncompromising belief that he had all the solutions to the various problems of the campaign. As this immense self-confidence was combined with a distinctly anarchic streak in his personality, Monty could be argumentative and had no compunction in taking on all comers. He was, consequently, a nagging headache for Eisenhower, whose protective British chauffeur and confidant, Kay Summersby, later wrote: ‘I grew to dislike the very name Montgomery. In my personal opinion, he gave the Supreme Commander more worry than any other one individual in the entire Allied Command …’ But Eisenhower appreciated Monty’s talents, and whilst his boss in the Mediterranean during 1943 wrote:


General Montgomery is a very able, dynamic type of army commander … He loves the limelight; but in seeking it, it is possible that he does so only because of the effect upon his own soldiers, who are certainly devoted to him. I have great confidence in him as a combat commander. He is intelligent, a good talker, and has a flare for showmanship. Like all other senior British officers, he has been most loyal – personally and officially – and has shown no disposition whatsoever to overstep the bounds imposed by Allied unity of command.



Ike certainly gave Montgomery a remarkable degree of autonomy whilst the latter was acting as Land Forces Commander during the first phase of the campaign in Normandy. During this period of ‘the break-in battle’ the British general was relatively placid because he was in control, but as soon as the battle of Normandy was won and Eisenhower’s planned assumption of the land role became imminent, the piqued Monty became disruptive. Montgomery, desperate to remain Land Forces Commander, believing that he was the best man for the job, argued that Ike had too many competing priorities to devote the necessary time to the role. He was not overstating the case, for at SHAEF Eisenhower had to handle all aspects of war-fighting in Western Europe, including the civil administration of the liberated nations, and was an important link between the theatre and political and military superiors in Washington and London. But what Montgomery failed to see was that the American people would not countenance their massive military force in Europe being commanded by a Brit. As Major-General Francis (‘Freddie’) de Guingand, Montgomery’s Chief of Staff, later wrote of his boss:


He was, I think, apt to give insufficient weight to the dictates of prestige and national feelings, or to the increased contribution of America, in both men and arms … it was obvious, however, to most of us that it would have been an impossible situation for a British General and a British Headquarters to retain command of these more numerous American formations indefinitely.



Eisenhower subsequently explained the situation in his official report on the campaign after the war:


[T]he size of our forces and the extent of our front made it necessary for me to take direct control of the land forces operating on the Continent … [A] change in the command set-up was necessary … due to the diverging lines of operation and the need for having a commander on each of the main fronts capable of handling, with a reasonable degree of independence, the day-to-day operations in each sector. These operations were to be guided by directives issued from my Headquarters.



Monty was replaced as Land Forces Commander by Eisenhower on 1 September, but was tactfully elevated to the rank of Field Marshal that same day. Churchill believed that promotion, Brooke noted in his diary, ‘would mark the approval of the British people for the British effort that had led to the defeat of the Germans in France through the medium of Montgomery’s leadership’. Nevertheless, Monty’s obvious pleasure at his new appellation was severely undermined by his frustration at having lost his influential role. Even so, he was determined to remain vocal about the development of strategy, and remained critical of Ike’s ability to be an effective land commander. Over and above the Supreme Commander’s distractingly broad portfolio, Montgomery was particularly disapproving of the location of Ike’s headquarters. The main body of SHAEF remained in London, but a forward headquarters had recently been established at Granville, a safe seaside-resort town north of Mont-St-Michel at the southern end of the Cotentin Peninsula in Normandy. Being so far behind the front line it afforded the Supreme Commander a broad view over the front, was within easy reach of southern England and was situated amongst the forward elements of both the Allied naval and air forces, but it was hardly ideal. With the battle moving further east with every passing day, Eisenhower needed first-class communications in order to follow the latest operational developments; yet Granville had no liaison officers, telephone links or radiophone capability with its subordinate commands, and thus Ike was forced to communicate by telegraph or letter. It was a situation that infuriated Montgomery who felt that the headquarters could not exercise proper command and control of operations, and he later wrote: ‘This was possibly a suitable place for a Supreme Commander; but it was useless for a Land Forces Commander who had to keep his finger on the pulse of his armies and give quick decisions in rapidly changing situations.’ The forward headquarters was little more than a public relations façade which fulfilled the home front’s expectation, and Eisenhower’s desire, for a high-level presence on the Continent.

The location of Eisenhower’s headquarters, however, was a mere bagatelle when compared with what Monty perceived to be Ike’s lack of the experience and skill to develop the ground war successfully. This, Monty argued, was because Eisenhower had not enjoyed the fighting command experience that he himself had, and it had left the American ‘deficient’. It was a situation that so irked the British commander that he wrote to Alan Brooke in August 1944: ‘[Eisenhower’s] ignorance as to how to run a war is absolute and complete; he has all the popular cries, but nothing else. He is such a decent chap that it is difficult to be angry with him for long.’ Brooke sympathized, lamenting in his diary that Eisenhower’s taking command of the ground forces was likely ‘to add another 3 to 6 months on to the war!’ He also failed to understand why the long-suffering Eisenhower did not put his subordinate firmly in his place. Montgomery was a thoroughly disruptive influence who had made a habit of pushing the Supreme Commander’s patience to its limits. It was a situation that reached a head during the first weeks of September when the new Field Marshal made it clear that he did not support Ike’s ‘broad-front’ strategy. This broad-front approach sought to advance the Allied forces eastwards with the main thrust north and south of the Ardennes towards the crucial industrial Ruhr region. In practical terms this meant the army groups advancing together in a coordinated fashion, with no one formation outrunning its logistics or its fellow formations. A slow but sure way of advancing. However, with Patton’s rapid progress towards the Saar catching the eye, Montgomery believed that the Ruhr thrust was being demoted, and later complained: ‘we had no fundamental plan which treated the theatre as an entity. Our strategy was now to become “unstitched”.’ Instead he advocated a ‘narrow front’ of concentrated Anglo-American forces which, he believed, would be far more efficacious.

Writing to Ike on 22 August, Monty opined: ‘The quickest way to win this war is for the great mass of the Allied Armies to advance northwards’ and, moreover, ‘single control and direction of the land operations is vital for success. This is a WHOLE TIME job for one man.’ Whilst advocating the narrow front as a more efficient and effective strategy for the Allied forces, there is little doubt that Montgomery also saw it as a way for Britain to punch above her weight. Stephen Hart has written that this strategy:


sought a high military profile for Britain’s limited – and diminishing – forces within a larger Allied effort that eventually would defeat the enemy without incurring a bloodbath of the last of Britain’s fit young men. If the British army defeated the enemy in such a manner, this would ensure Britain a prominent British influence on the emerging postwar political structure of Europe.



The narrow front would do the pugnacious commander’s ego, profile and desire for influence over strategy no harm either.

Montgomery’s justification for an ‘advance northwards’ was based in his assessment that to the south neither Bradley’s US Twelfth Army Group nor Dever’s US Sixth Army Group offered as fertile prospects for a strategically influential offensive as that of his own command. Twenty-First Army Group, he was convinced, could smash through the West Wall (known to the Allies as the Siegfried Line), which ran for nearly 400 miles from Holland and along the western German border to Switzerland. Originally constructed in the 1930s and consisting of an outdated series of bunkers, trenches, strong-points and anti-tank defences in need of repair, it could nevertheless prove a considerable obstacle to the Allied advance if well-manned. As a consequence, Montgomery’s desire was for Eisenhower to facilitate an Anglo-American force under his command ‘which would be so strong that it need fear nothing’ to smash the German defences. This mass of 40 divisions, its right flank protected by an element of the US Twelfth Army Group, would thrust north-east through Holland, directed on Aachen and Cologne ‘to secure bridgeheads over the Rhine before winter began and to seize the Ruhr quickly’. With such major objectives secured, Montgomery would then look to exploit across the north German plains to Berlin and end the war in Europe. It was a strategy that General Günther Blumentritt, the Chief of Staff to Field Marshal Gerd von Rundstedt, the sometime German Commander-in-Chief West (OB West), believed sound, later reasoning that:


The best course of the Allies [was] to concentrate a really strong force with which to break through past Aachen to the Ruhr area. Strategically and politically, Berlin was the target. Germany’s strength is in the north. He who holds northern Germany holds Germany … There were no German forces behind the Rhine, and at the end of August our front was wide open.



On 23 August Monty met up with Eisenhower to articulate his case:


I said that if he adopted a broad front strategy, with the whole line advancing and everyone fighting all the time, the advance would inevitably peter out, the Germans would be given time to recover and the war would go on all through the winter and well into 1945. I also said that he, as Supreme Commander, must sit on a very lofty perch in order to be able to take a detached view of the whole intricate problem … Someone must run the land battle for him.



The entire scheme was rejected for many reasons, not least the risk inherent in placing so many resources in a single attack, but also because of the potentially explosive political consequences of a Montgomery-led advance to glory. But in an attempt to assuage the obvious inference that he was trying to place his own interests ahead of strategic primacy, Montgomery offered to serve under Bradley’s command. Eisenhower was still unimpressed, but he did make some concessions to the British call for more resources, and by 29 August Lieutenant-General Courtney Hodges’ US First Army – whilst remaining under Bradley’s command – was sent into Belgium to temporarily assist Twenty-First Army Group. Moreover, the newly formed First Allied Airborne Army (FAAA) was placed at Montgomery’s disposal, and he was encouraged to develop a plan to utilize this powerful and flexible force to support his offensive. It was a victory of sorts, and Monty believed that the allowances Ike had made showed that there was still a hope that his boss might be made to see the innumerable errors in his flawed strategic thinking.

Unmoved by the optimism that was washing over Eisenhower’s command during the last week of August, the pragmatic Montgomery instead pointed to the various challenges that still had to be faced: the logistic difficulties, the attainment of a Rhine crossing, the breaching of the West Wall and the problems which would be caused by the onset of winter. Monty did not expect the enemy to fold just as the Allies were approaching Germany and interpreted the recent Allied territorial gains as evidence that the Germans were preparing to defend their border in numbers and with tenacity. He was far from alone in this view, with Colonel Oscar W. Koch, Patton’s astute intelligence officer, writing: ‘It is clear that the fixed determination of the Nazis is to wage a last-ditch struggle in the field at all costs … the German armies will continue to fight until destroyed or captured.’ Churchill agreed, and wrote in a minute: ‘It is at least as likely that Hitler will be fighting on the 1st January [1945] as that he will collapse before then. If he does collapse before then, the reasons will be political rather than purely military.’

With the strength of the German defence noticeably increasing against them and a lack of supplies forcing Dempsey to halt in northern Belgium and Patton at Verdun, Eisenhower’s advance had reached a tipping-point. Yet out of touch with developments at the front, and laid up with a painful knee injury, the new American Land Commander was not in a strong position to influence matters; and so his subordinates took events into their own hands. At a meeting attended by Montgomery, Bradley, Hodges and Dempsey on 3 September, the Americans made their desires abundantly clear. Here the US Twelfth Army Group Commander eschewed any further vacillation and said that he wanted to limit the US First Army support that he was providing to Montgomery to just two corps and intended to push Patton across the Rhine to Frankfurt just as soon as the logistics allowed. Bradley, whom Ike called, ‘the best-rounded combat leader I have yet met in our service’, was clearly using Ike’s incapacity to strike a blow for the prospects of his southern offensive. He later justified his thinking by writing:


[The] principal advantage of the American plan with its primary thrust toward Frankfurt lay in the directness of its route to the enemy’s homeland across the undefended front that stretched beyond Third Army. A main effort there would not only carry us past the fortifications of Metz and through the Maginot Line, but it might even penetrate the unmanned defenses of the Siegfried Line. And if in the event it went all the way to the Rhine, it would deprive the enemy of his important Saar basin.



So confident was Bradley that the attack would succeed, that his aide de camp, Major Chester Hansen, noted that his boss sought ‘to be on the Rhine on 10 September’. The meeting was clearly another setback for Twenty-First Army Group but, resolved to promote his Second Army offensive, Monty signalled Freddie de Guingand that Dempsey was to advance from the line ‘Brussels–Antwerp on 6 Sep directed on Wesel [the end of the West Wall] and Arnhem and passing round the North side of the Ruhr’. It was a route that the planners had rejected in the past due to its difficult terrain, which included numerous water obstacles, but with FAAA available to him to help overcome such challenges, the Field Marshal was able to add: ‘Require airborne operation – Operation Comet – of one British Division and Poles on evening 6 Sep or morning 7 Sep to secure bridges over Rhine between Wesel and Arnhem.’

The two corps FAAA was formally established on 8 August. Eisenhower, General Henry ‘Hap’ Arnold, the commander of the US Air Force, and General George Marshall, were all keen to see what the new army could achieve before the war was over. Operation Comet was the fifteenth airborne operation that had been considered to assist the Allied advance since 6 June, but none had taken place largely due to the ground units having swept forward so fast that the intended objectives had already been taken. But now Comet was being prepared in order to throw the British Second Army across the Rhine, with 1 British Airborne Division and the 1 Independent Polish Parachute Brigade being inserted behind enemy lines in Holland to seize the bridges that Dempsey’s force would need to cross. The problem was, however, that the transport aircraft used to relay the parachute and glider forces were also such valuable supply carriers that the RAF could not afford to take risks with them. Thus, as soon as air force commanders learned that their aircraft would have to over-fly German anti-aircraft guns in the Ruhr area after delivering the airborne troops, they protested. The result was that the entire direction of the operation was altered, and a new Rhine-crossing location was chosen which put the transporters out of the reach of the Ruhr’s anti-aircraft: Arnhem. The choice of this quiet Dutch town on the Lower Rhine necessitated a Second Army advance along a single highway via Eindhoven, Grave and Nijmegen. It was a bold concept, particularly considering the narrow attacking frontage of the ground troops and the relatively few lightly armed airborne troops involved, but an early launch date of 7 September was chosen in order to exploit continued German disarray.

As the planning for Operation Comet progressed, Montgomery continued to badger Eisenhower for the resource priority he needed to develop his northern offensive. Consequently, on 4 September he telegraphed the Supreme Commander:


	I consider we have now reached a stage where only one really powerful and full-blooded thrust towards Berlin is likely to get there and thus end the German war.

	We have not enough maintenance resources for two full-blooded thrusts.

	The selected thrust must have all the maintenance resources it needs without qualification and any other operation must do the best it can with what is left over.

	There are only two possible thrusts, one via the Ruhr and the other via Metz and the Saar.

	In my opinion, the thrust likely to give the best and quickest results is the northern one via the Ruhr.

	Time is vital and the decision regarding the selected thrust must be made at once …

	If we attempt a compromise solution and split our maintenance resources so that neither thrust is full-blooded we will prolong the war.

	I consider the problem viewed as above is very simple and clear-cut.

	The matter is of such vital importance that I feel sure you will agree that a decision on the above lines is required at once. If you are coming this way perhaps you would look in and discuss it … Do not feel I can leave this battle just at present.



When Eisenhower received the message on the evening of 5 September, he was exasperated: didn’t the man know when to stop struggling? Was Montgomery so naïve as to believe that a ‘full-blooded thrust towards Berlin’ was politically viable? It did not help that Monty’s signal had crossed with a new directive sent by Ike to his commanders to reiterate and clarify his position. In it the Supreme Commander emphasized his desire to stretch the Germans and provide two alternative routes into Germany by striking at both the Ruhr and the Saar. Although he said that the Saar operation ‘should be started as soon as possible to forestall the enemy in this sector’, he also emphasized that the element of US Twelfth Army Group ‘operating north-west of the Ardennes against the Ruhr must first be adequately supported’. Although this was not so very different from what had been decided in Ike’s absence at the 3 September meeting, there was one important difference: whilst SHAEF perceived the two thrusts as a coordinated Allied effort, both Montgomery and Bradley recognized that they were becoming increasingly disassociated with US Twelfth Army Group paying little more than lip-service to the priority that the Supreme Commander attached to the British Ruhr thrust. As a result, Montgomery hoped that Eisenhower would reinforce the northern advance in a reply to his latest signal.

As the battle over strategy moved into a new phase, so did the fighting, and on 6 September British Second Army resumed its attack towards the Dutch border. Within a few short hours it became clear that the German defences had been strengthened over the previous few days and with Operation Comet just a few hours from being launched ahead of XXX Corps, there was a new fear that the ground forces would not be able to link up with the airborne forces quickly enough. Thus, with Montgomery still awaiting clarification from Ike that this Ruhr thrust was to receive the priority that he desired, Comet was cancelled. Horrocks’ force struggled on, nevertheless, hoping that by maintaining pressure on the enemy, cracks would appear in the defences. In fighting of an intensity that was more reminiscent of the confrontations in Normandy than the heady days of late August, 11 Armoured Division stalled on the Albert Canal whilst the Guards Armoured Division, although having crossed the water obstacle by 9 September, could only manage to push on a few miles to the village of Helchteren. Reviewing the situation with officers at his forward headquarters, Major Peter Merchant, a Twenty-First Army Group Staff Officer, recalls that Monty again grumbled that Ike’s ‘mismanagement of the campaign had again made the task of his men more difficult and dangerous than it needed to be’. His mood did not improve when Eisenhower’s reply to his call for a drive on the German capital eventually arrived. Trying once again to make his position clear, Ike wrote:


While agreeing with your conception of a powerful and full-blooded thrust towards Berlin I do not agree that it should be initiated at this moment to the exclusion of all other manoeuvres … The bulk of the German Army that was in the West has now been destroyed. Must immediately exploit our success by promptly breaching the Siegfried Line, crossing the Rhine on a wide front, and seizing the Saar and the Ruhr. This I intend to do with all possible speed. This will give a stranglehold on two of Germany’s main industrial areas and largely destroy her capacity to wage war, whatever course events may take … No reallocation of our present resources would be adequate to sustain a thrust to Berlin.



However, in his final paragraph, the Supreme Commander once again gave hope to Montgomery by stating:


I have always given and still give priority to the Ruhr [Repeat] Ruhr, and the northern route of advance … Locomotives and rolling stock are today being allocated on the basis of this priority to maintain the momentum of the advance of your forces, and those of Bradley north-west of the Ardennes. Please let me know at once your further maintenance requirements for the advance.



Bent on finding out what exactly the ‘priority’ that the signal referred to would mean in practice, the irascible Field Marshal wrote to Brooke on 9 September: ‘[Eisenhower] keeps saying that he has ordered that the northern thrust to the Ruhr is to have priority; but he had NOT ordered this.’ Nevertheless, Montgomery began formulating a new attack to give his supposedly ‘higher-ranking’ advance a deft shove through Holland and across the Rhine. It was an offensive that he wanted to carry out before the enemy had further reorganized and because he had received word that two V2 rockets, launched from the Dutch coast, had recently landed in England. As Montgomery later wrote: ‘So far as I was concerned that settled the direction of the thrust line of my operations to secure crossings over the Meuse [Maas] and Rhine: it must be towards Arnhem.’ By pushing the Second Army from Eindhoven to Arnhem and following it up with a short jab to the Ijsselmeer in northern Holland, the British could potentially accomplish a great deal: cut off all German forces in the west of the country; capture the V2 sites; assist in the clearance of the Antwerp estuary and overrun Rotterdam. Grabbing a Rhine crossing would also provide a perfect launch-pad for a further attack to outflank the West Wall and continue on to the Ruhr.

Montgomery’s new offensive plan – Operation Market Garden – included a greatly enlarged airborne operation based on Comet. It was a plan at the forefront of his mind when he met Ike aboard an aeroplane on a Brussels airfield at noon on 10 September to talk about strategy, logistics and the next steps towards the Reich. It was the first meeting between the two men since the Supreme Commander had taken control of the Land Forces and Monty immediately lost his self-control, and poured out days of frustration in a loud and aggressive tirade against his superior’s lack of grip and the consequences of his flawed strategy. Clutching a batch of directives that he had recently received from SHAEF and adopting an aggressive posture, the Field Marshal screeched: ‘They’re balls, sheer balls, rubbish!’ The American general, in considerable pain from his injury, was in no mood for such histrionics, but he kept his cool and listened stoically before suddenly putting his hand on Monty’s knee and saying, ‘Steady Monty, you can’t speak to me like that. I’m your boss.’ It was a withering interjection which elicited an immediate apology from Montgomery, who quickly regained his equilibrium and assumed a more professional stance. The result was a fruitful discussion about the northern advance on the Ruhr during which the British commander outlined his plan for Operation Market Garden. Eisenhower was interested: SHAEF wanted to take a Rhine crossing before winter and the plan would not only ameliorate some of Monty’s concerns about the Ruhr thrust but also provide a chance for FAAA to show what it could do. However, whilst revealing his support for the operation, Ike also made it clear that the offensive would only be part of a limited attack to cross the Rhine, and he would not stop Patton to facilitate it. This, the Supreme Commander emphasized, was in line with his recent communiqué to Montgomery. When the meeting broke up, the Field Marshal felt that he had won an important victory, but he still needed more detailed information about the resources that he could expect from Ike. Even so by the evening of the 10th, Lieutenant-General Frederick ‘Boy’ Browning, the deputy commander of the FAAA and commander of I British Airborne Corps, started the detailed planning of the airborne element of the plan – Operation Market – back in England, whilst Miles Dempsey began his preparations for the ground element – Operation Garden – in Belgium.

OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
(el

ARNHEM

JUMPING THE RHINE 1944 AND 1945
THE GREATEST AIRBORNE BATTLE IN HISTORY






OEBPS/images/logo.jpg
=~

headline
Teview





OEBPS/images/map1.jpg
Japiog ypIng aY) 0} dueAPY palllY (L dew

o

sy
piMLSH
o

sy,
sy sy sf

Rusiy ayupeieg S \ -
g WS Mgy T
WV 170 i 5
dnouD AWMY,
o w
S PN






